
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

SIYA CREEL     CIVIL ACTION NO: 3:20-cv-00880 

VERSUS      CHIEF JUDGE: SHELLY DICK 

CITY OF BATON ROUGE/PARISH  MAGISTRATE JUDGE: ERIN 

OF EAST BATON ROUGE D/B/A   WILDER DOOMES  

BATON ROUGE POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 

****************************************************************************** 

SUPPLEMENTAL, AMENDING, AND RESTATED COMPLAINT 

 

The Petition of Siya Creel, a resident of the full age of majority of Ascension Parish, 

Louisiana, who respectfully supplements, amends, and restates his Petition as alleged and 

substituted herein, reflected in bold print:  

1. 

The defendants enumerated below are justly and truly indebted unto Petitioner for all sums 

as are reasonable under the premises, punitive damages as allowed by law as to the individual 

defendant, attorney fees as allowed by law, all costs of these proceedings, legal interest thereon 

until paid, and all such other relief to which Petitioner is entitled at law or in equity: 

1. City of Baton Rouge/Parish of East Baton Rouge d/b/a Baton Rouge Police 

Department, a municipal entity domiciled in East Baton Rouge Parish, Louisiana; 

2. Murphy Paul, individually and in his official capacity as Chief of the Baton Rouge 

Police Department, a resident of the full age of majority of East Baton Rouge Parish, 

Louisiana. 

2. 

 On April 20, 2015, Mr. Creel was hired by defendant BRPD to serve the citizens of this 

City and Parish as a Baton Rouge Police Officer.  He currently serves with the Rank of Officer 
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and enjoyed a spotless record, free from any form of discipline throughout the entirety of his 

employment with the Baton Rouge Police Department, until recently and as a result of his suffering 

with cancer and his affiliation with the Baton Rouge Union of Police serving as its Vice President. 

3. 

In approximately late 2015, Mr. Creel joined the Baton Rouge Union of Police Local 237, 

which is part of IUPA.  The Baton Rouge Union of Police is the only formally recognized 

bargaining agent for the defendant Baton Rouge Police Department. 

4. 

In 2018, Mr. Creel was elected as a Union steward for Second District of the BRPD.  

Thereafter, in 2019, Mr. Creel became Vice President of the Baton Rouge Union of Police.  He 

currently holds the position of Vice President of the Baton Rouge Union of Police. 

5. 

 The existing contract between defendant and the Baton Rouge Union of Police expired.  

However, pursuant to that contract, the terms and conditions of the contract continue in existence 

until a replacement contract is successfully negotiated between defendant and the Union. 

6. 

 In 2019, Mr. Creel, as Vice President of the Union and defendant, through Mayor Sharon 

Weston Broome, engaged in contact negotiations regarding entering into a contract between the 

defendant and the Baton Rouge Union of Police.  On August 13, 2020, Mr. Creel, as Vice President 

of the Union, personally met with the defendant, through Mayor Weston Broome to further the 

Union negotiations with the defendant.  The parties were unable to agree on salient terms, 

including pay increases for officers, promotions, and disciplinary matters.  However, immediately 

prior to the last meeting between defendant and Mr. Creel, defendant notified Mr. Creel that he 
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was required to attend a meeting with BRPD Internal Affairs to discuss a potential disciplinary 

matter, the substance of which defendant refused to then inform Mr. Creel.  Mr. Creel, who had 

never been the subject of any Internal Affairs investigation or disciplinary matter was immediately 

concerned the sudden notification of an IA interview was designed to chill Mr. Creel’s speech in 

his capacity as Union Vice President and to illegally interfere with the contract negotiations. 

7. 

 On August 18, 2020, Mr. Creel and his counsel attended a meeting with Officer Orsini 

Beard of Internal Affairs for the BRPD. 

8. 

 At that time, Mr. Creel was advised he was being investigated for Conduct Unbecoming 

an Officer, Unauthorized Statements, and alleged violation of the “Social Media Policy.”  Attached 

hereto and made part hereof is a copy of the Notice of Rights provided to Mr. Creel on August 18, 

2020. 

9. 

 During the August 18, 2020, IA interview, defendant, through Beard, specifically advised 

Mr. Creel (the meeting was recorded by defendant) that he was being investigated as a result of an 

interview Mr. Creel gave regarding the Union activities, including the Union’s placement of 

billboards in the City of Baton Rouge and an interview Mr. Creel, in his capacity as Vice President 

of the  Baton Rouge Union of Police, gave to reporter and media blogger Kiran Chawla for her 

public information blog posted on YouTube and Facebook regarding the Union’s activities, 

including the creation and posting of the billboards.   
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10. 

 Defendant specifically questioned Mr. Creel when he became an officer with the Union, 

how he became an officer with the Union, Mr. Creel’s union membership, who authorized the 

Union’s placement of the billboards in Baton Rouge, where the contents of the billboards came 

from, how Union members became members of the Union Billboard Committee, why the Union 

decided to place the billboards, whether/when/how the Union came up with the idea of creating 

the billboards and placement of the billboards, and, specifically, the billboard adjacent to the 

BRPD Headquarters, and the positing of a hypothetical that if current BRPD Chief Murphy Paul 

made public statements regarding the content of the Union’s billboards whether or not Mr. Creel 

would agree with those statements.  As the interview was recorded by defendant the recording is 

the best evidence of its contents and is incorporated herein fully and specifically by reference. 

11. 

 Defendants then accused Mr. Creel of violating policy by speaking with Ms. Chawla in his 

capacity of Vice President of the Union and further inquired how the interview with Ms. Chawla 

came about, why Mr. Creel had chosen to speak about the Union activity, the Union negotiations 

with the defendant, and where the interview with Ms. Chawla occurred.  Defendant also accused 

Mr. Creel of violating policy as his service weapon and badge were visible during the media 

interview with Ms. Chawla despite the fact that BRPD policy requires all officers to wear his/her 

badge in plain view when carrying his/her service weapon and, importantly, that BRPD policy 

requires all of its officers to carry his/her service weapon at all times when within the City limits 

of Baton Rouge. Mr. Creel was interviewed by Ms. Chawla within the City limits of Baton Rouge, 

a fact he specifically made plain to defendant when questioned.  During the IA interview, Mr. 

Creel correctly refused to answer questions relating to his and the Union’s activities at which time 
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he was specifically threatened by defendant that his refusal to answer those questions regarding 

his Union participation and the activities of the Union were grounds for disciplinary action, 

including termination.  Following the IA interview, counsel for Mr. Creel sent the attached email 

to the defendant formally protesting the repeated inquiries into Union activities and, further, that 

the IA interview interfered with Mr. Creel’s rights under the United States and Louisiana 

Constitutions as it related to his free speech and association, and likely constituted a violation of 

Federal and Louisiana labor laws. 

12. 

 Thereafter, Mr. Creel sought injunctive relief as a result of the proposed actions which 

resulted in the entry of a Consent Order.  Following entry of the Consent Order and on the same 

day, defendants issued a second disciplinary notice to Petitioner against citing the fact that 

Petitioner gave a media interview to a media blogger in his capacity as the Union Vice President.  

13. 

 On November 12, 2020, Mr. Creel attended a pre-disciplinary “hearing” with defendant 

Paul and the Command staff of the BRPD.  During the “hearing” defendants again raised and 

discussed Mr. Creels statements made in his capacity as Union Vice President regarding the 

billboards and union activities and, specifically, attempted to accuse Petitioner of violating a 

“media policy” because Petitioner’s badge, displayed next to his gun which he is required to wear 

within Baton Rouge City limits, was visible.  However, members of the Command Staff present 

at the “hearing” had previously appeared in full BRPD dress uniform promoting private companies 

with which they are affiliated for personal profit, yet, they were not accused, let alone, found 

“guilty” of violating the same policy. Also during the “hearing” Petitioner specifically advised the 

defendants he had requested use of his sick and annual leave starting the following Monday, 
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November 16, 2020, to undergo intensive chemotherapy and radiation therapy as all prior attempts 

at cancer treatment had been proving ineffective. 

14. 

 Defendants then pronounced Petitioner “guilty” of allegedly violating the BRPD “media 

policy” because Petitioner gave the interview to media regarding union activities and, specifically, 

the union placement of the billboards, conduct unbecoming an officer presumably for the same 

reason, and violating orders also presumably for the same reason.   

15. 

 On Monday, November 16, 2020, Petitioner began intensive radiation and chemotherapy 

treatment.  By Tuesday, November 17, 2020, the defendants began contacting Petitioner, while he 

was out on sick leave, attempting to retrieve from Petitioner his badge, gun, computer, and all 

BRPD issued equipment.  At that time, defendants refused to advise Petitioner why and, instead, 

simply told Petitioner he was on administrative leave (a disciplinary sanction) but would not and 

could not provide any reason why.  Notably, under civil service regulations and prevailing 

jurisprudent, Petitioner is to be provided a reason for administrative leave. 

16. 

 Petitioner advised defendants, through Internal Affairs Investigator Angelloz that he could 

not talk right then as he was receiving his chemotherapy and directed them to his counsel.  In the 

interim, Petitioner’s counsel sent a letter to defendant Paul on November 17, 2020, by fax, again 

requesting accommodation for his disability with cancer, including that defendants leave Petitioner 

alone so he can receive the life-saving treatment. 
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17. 

 Thereafter, defendants contacted Petitioner’s counsel on November 17, 2020, advising that 

they needed to immediately retrieve Petitioner’s BRPD-issued items because of “administrative 

leave”, but again could provide no reason why Petitioner was being placed on administrative leave.  

Petitioner’s counsel directed them to the letter sent to defendant Paul earlier that morning. 

18. 

 During the week of November 17, 2020, the Union bought and began displaying another 

round of billboards.  The latest such billboard questioned the leadership of the BRPD and Petitioner 

contends it is now an additional reason for the escalation of harassment and threats directed toward 

him designed to silence and/or chill the free speech rights of Petitioner and the union. 

19. 

 On December 1, 2020, Petitioner attempted to return to work from his sick leave, having 

never received any written notice of administrative leave or further directives.  Shortly after his 

arrival at work, defendants, through Internal Affairs officer Orscini Beard approached Petitioner, 

removed from Petitioner all of his BRPD-issued equipment and handed Petitioner a back-dated, 

clearly altered, whited-out, and nonsensical notice of administrative leave purportedly bearing the 

date of November 17, 2020. 

20. 

 This time when Petitioner asked defendants why he was on administrative leave, 

defendants told Petitioner it was because he had shown up at work on December 1, 2020.  In other 

words, defendants were purporting to place Petitioner on administrative leave effective November 

17, 2020, for Petitioner’s prospective return to work on December 1, 2020.  A copy of the back-

dated, altered notice is attached hereto and made part hereof. 
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20a. 

The November 17, 2020, letter given to Mr. Creel on December 1, 2020, came 

subsequent to the letter sent to him by defendant Chief Paul on September 18, 2020, attached 

hereto, whereby defendant Chief Paul advised Mr. Creel that he was “considering taking 

official disciplinary action against him” for the following reasons:  

Violating of BRPD's Policies and Procedures Manual Disciplinary Code, 

Section XII, ‘Disciplinary Articles’, subsections 2:12, 3:5, and 3:17.  

2:12 Conduct Unbecoming of an Officer  

3:5 Unauthorized Public Statements, (Social Media) 

3:17 Carrying Out Orders (Social Media) 

 

20b. 

According to the Baton Rouge Police Department’s Handbook revised on 6-30-

2020, defendants cited Mr. Creel for a violation of Subsection 2:12, but Subsection 2:12 is 

not “Conduct Unbecoming an Officer”.  Rather, Subsection 2:12 is “Respect to Fellow 

Members”.  There is no evidence or description that Mr. Creel violated the “Respect to 

Fellow Members” policy of  BRPD.   

20c. 

 

The alleged violations cited by defendants occurred in relation to a media interview 

Mr. Creel gave regarding Union activities, including the Union’s placement of billboards in 

the City of Baton Rouge in an interview given to reporter and media blogger Kiran Chawla, 

in his capacity as Vice President of the Baton Rouge Union of Police.  Ms. Chawla 

subsequently posted the interview on her public information blog on YouTube and Facebook 

regarding the Union’s activities, including the creation and posting of the billboards. 
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20d. 

On December 3, 2020, Mr. Creel filed Charges of Discrimination with the EEOC and 

LCHR regarding defendants’ disability-based discrimination, harassment, and retaliation.  

His Charges remain pending.  On December 4, 2020, Mr. Creel filed this Petition. 

20e. 

On December 11, 2020, the EEOC notified the Defendants of the filing of Mr. Creel’s 

Charge of Discrimination against the defendant City/Parish with the EEOC.   

20f. 

 Less than four days later, on December 15, 2020, Mr. Creel was terminated by the 

defendants and falsely accused of:  

2:12 Conduct Unbecoming of an Officer (Sustained) 

3:5 Unauthorized Public Statements, (Social Media) (Sustained) 

3:17 Carrying Out Orders (Social Media) (Sustained) 

 

20g. 

In that same letter, defendant Chief Paul notified Mr. Creel that as a result of these 

alleged violations, his employment with BRPD was being terminated effective immediately.  

The charges are false.  On the same day, December 15, 2020, defendants issued a press release 

on behalf of BRPD publicly announcing Mr. Creel’s termination and, in violation of La. R.S. 

40:2532, also released his photograph to the media and public-at-large without his written 

consent.    

20h. 

On December 18, 2020, Mr. Creel filed his Motion seeking a Preliminary Injunction, 

and thereafter Permanent Injunction.  
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20i. 

On December 18, 2020, Mr. Creel also filed an appeal with the Baton Rouge 

Municipal Fire and Police Civil Service Board to appeal his termination.  However, no 

hearing of his appeal can or will be had until at the earliest June, 2021.  By that time, Mr. 

Creel will have lost his health insurance benefits with the City/Parish and possibly his battle 

with cancer.   

20j. 

After filing his Charge of Discrimination and request for injunction, on Sunday 

evening, December 20, 2020, Mr. Creel received a “supplemental” notice from the Baton 

Rouge Police, a copy of which is attached, seeking to add yet another false reason for his 

termination after the fact:   

This letter shall serve as a supplement to the termination letter that I provided 

to you dated December 15, 2020. The purpose of this letter is to provide 

supplemental language to the section entitled "Conduct" in addition to the 

terminable conduct detailed in the termination letter you received. The 

following language was set forth in the Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Notice issued 

to you prior to your disciplinary hearing which occurred on November 12, 2020 

and this language is copied verbatim from that letter: 

 

During this investigation, a six-month audit (January 2020 - July 

2020) of your departmental issued e-mail (SECreel@brla.gov) was 

performed. It appears that on Thursday, June 25, 2020 at 

approximately 1025 hours, you used your "City-Parish" e-mail 

account to conduct Local 237 Police Union business by drafting 

several billboard images and sending the images to 

siyacreel@gmail.com. 

 

20k. 

A supplemental appeal, with the Baton Rouge Municipal Fire and Police Civil Service 

Board, was filed by Mr. Creel on December 22, 2020, subsequent to receipt of the 

“supplemental notice” sent by the Baton Rouge Police on December 20, 2020.  
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20l. 

It should be noted that the supplemental notice was the first instance where the 

Defendants asserted that Mr. Creel was being terminated due to improper conduct, as a 

result of his one time, accidental use of his BRPD email to forward an email containing a 

proposed union billboard image.  Defendants’ “audit” of Mr. Creel’s email represents an 

invasion of his privacy and an improper search in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution as well a violation of Article 1, Section 5 of the Louisiana 

Constitution.  

20m. 

On December 21, 2020, defendants publicly issued a statement via both a radio 

interview as well as a press release, wherein defendant Paul disclosed Mr. Creel’s 

confidential personal and medical information, without lawful consent or right.  Defendants 

also accessed the certified medical information of Mr. Creel and his minor children in 

violation of his rights and the law.   

20n. 

On December 22, 2020, Mr. Creel submitted a public records request to BRPD for 

the following:  

Copies of all health insurance applications, health insurance requests, health 

insurance submissions, health insurance information regarding all members, 

including The Chief and Administration, of the Baton Rouge Police 

Department; Copies of all emails sent and/or received by Chief Murphy Paul 

for the period of June 1, 2020 – present.  
 

Subsequently, Mr. Creel received the following response to his request from BRPD :  

I will send the portion of your request seeking "copies of all health insurance 

applications, health insurance requests, health insurance submissions, health 

insurance information regarding all members, including The Chief and 
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Administration, of the Baton Rouge Police Department;" to the general public 

records division, as BRPD does not maintain records regarding health 

insurance.  

 

20o. 

On December 24, 2020, in response to his public records request, Mr. Creel received 

an email whereby his public records request was denied for the following reason(s) 

confirming the absolute confidential nature of the documents defendants previously accessed 

of Mr. Creel and his children, without consent or lawful authority:  

D. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Chapter or any other law to the 

contrary, all medical records, claim forms, insurance applications, requests 

for the payment of benefits, and all other health records of public employees, 

public officials, and their dependents in the personnel records of any public 

body shall be confidential. However, nothing in this Chapter shall be intended 

to limit access to employee records under the Code of Civil Procedure or Code 

of Evidence. La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44:11. Thus, we will not be able to provide 

the requested documents; this concludes your request. 

 

Therefore, defendants accessed the confidential information of Mr. Creel and his children in 

violation of his rights and the law.  Defendants subsequently disclosed this confidential 

information to the media and the public.  

21. 

 Petitioner contends that the inquisition into and subsequent retaliation against Mr. Creel 

in connection with his participation in Union Activities and those of the Union and speech, violate 

his clearly established rights of Free Speech and Association under the 1st Amendment to the 

United States Constitution, La. Const. Art. 1, Section 7 (Freedom of Expression) and Section 9 

(Right of Assembly and Petition). 

21a. 
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Mr. Creel shows that the Defendants’ actions in terminating Mr. Creel and harassing 

him, including through the unlawful access to his confidential information, unlawful 

disclosure of the confidential information to the media and public, and unlawful 

dissemination of his photograph only four days after being notified by the EEOC of his 

Charge(s) of Discrimination constitutes unlawful disability-based 

discrimination/harassment under the LEDL, La. R.S. 23:301, et seq., and retaliation/reprisal 

in violation of La. R.S. 23:967, and unlawful retaliation in violation of the ADA. 

21b. 

Mr. Creel shows that the Defendants violated his clearly established privacy rights 

under the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article 1, Section 5 of the 

Louisiana Constitution, and La. R.S. 40:2532.  

22. 

At all pertinent times hereto, defendants Paul and City-Parish were persons acting under 

color of authority within the meaning and intent of 42 U.S.C. §1983. Mr. Creel shows that, at all 

times, he enjoyed the clearly established right to associate with and be a member of the union and 

to free speech, including his right to protest and oppose unlawful discrimination in the 

workplace, guaranteed pursuant to the 1st Amendment to the United States Constitution and his 

clearly established rights of privacy.  Mr. Creel contends he has been harassed, disciplined, 

threatened, and terminated because of the assertion of his rights to association and of free speech 

and that the defendants’ actions, in violation of his clearly established rights, violated 42 U.S.C. 

§1983 for which Mr. Creel sues for herein.  Mr. Creel further shows that defendant City-Parish, at 

all times, had a policy, practice, and custom to punish the union and its leadership for exercising 
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their rights and punish those who oppose unlawful discrimination under the 1st Amendment for 

which it is liable under §1983. 

23. 

 Mr. Creel shows that as a result of the actions of the defendants, he sustained damages 

which include, but are not limited to, physical injuries, severe and extreme emotional distress, 

impairment of Mr. Creel’s ability to fight his cancer, lost wages and benefits, loss of earning 

capacity, and all such other damages as will be more fully shown at trial of this matter. The 

consequences of defendants’ unlawful actions are life-threatening to Mr. Creel.  As a result 

of his termination, Mr. Creel has lost City/Parish health insurance benefits and is without 

income.  In addition, the mental and emotional toll on plaintiff from the defendants’ actions 

irreparably interferes with his ability to fight cancer and continue to survive.   

24. 

 Mr. Creel contends the actions of defendant Paul were in wanton and reckless disregard 

for Mr. Creel’s clearly established rights and thus defendant Paul is liable unto Mr. Creel for 

punitive damages as allowed by law. 

25. 

 Mr. Creel seeks and is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 

for which he sues for herein. 

25a.  

 Plaintiff shows he timely filed a Charge of Discrimination with the EEOC but has not 

yet received his Notice of Right to Sue and accordingly, reserves his right to later assert his 

claims under the ADA.  Plaintiff also shows he sent demand pursuant to La. R.S. 23:303 and 
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all conditions precedent to suit against his former employer defendant City/Parish under La. 

R.S. 23:301, et seq., have been met and/or complied with.  

26. 

  Mr. Creel is entitled to and desires all such other relief to which he is entitled at law or in 

equity, and specifically by separate Motion filed of record in these proceedings, seeks and is 

entitled to injunctive relief under Fed.R.Civ.P. Rule 65. 

27. 

 Mr. Creel is entitled to and desires trial by jury of this matter. 

 WHEREFORE, Petitioner, Siya Creel, prays for trial by jury and after due proceedings are 

had that there be Judgment herein in his favor and against defendants, City of Baton Rouge/Parish 

of East Baton Rouge and Murphy Paul, individually and in his official capacity as Chief of Police, 

for all sums as are reasonable under the premises, punitive damages as to the individual defendant, 

attorney fees as allowed by law, and all such other relief to which Mr. Creel is entitled at law or in 

equity. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

       

 

By: _s/Jill L. Craft_____________ 

             Jill L. Craft, T.A., Bar Roll #20922 

             W. Brett Conrad, Jr., Bar Roll #37639 

      Kaitlin A. Wall, Bar Roll #39462 

      Jill L. Craft, Attorney at Law, LLC 

            329 Saint Ferdinand Street 

      Baton Rouge, Louisiana  70802 

(225) 663-2612 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that I have served a copy of the above and foregoing Supplemental, 

Amending, and Restated Complaint upon trial counsel of record for all parties hereto using the 

Court’s electronic filing system, CM/ECF. 

 Baton Rouge, Louisiana, this 11th day of January, 2021.  

 

______s/Jill L. Craft_______ 

Jill L. Craft 
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